RECEIVED

Aug 03 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Presiding Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000084

Vidhyaben R. Patel,Appellant,

v.

Hardik R. Patel,Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar # 4063
Moore Bradley Myers Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
jake@mbmlawsc.com

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE ABOVE-REFERENCED ACTION IS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 11, 2019, Plaintiff/Appellant Vidhyaben R. Patel (“Appellant”) brought this action in the Laurens County Court of Common Pleas against Defendant/Respondent Hardik R. Patel (“Respondent”) alleging causes of action for abuse of process. (R. pp. 46-47). Respondent answered asserting numerous affirmative defenses and counterclaims. (R. pp. 48-70). *Res Judicata* and/or issue preclusion were not plead as affirmative defenses. Respondent subsequently moved for Change of Venue to York County which was granted. (R. pp. 154-155; 42-43).

On October 30, 2019, Respondent moved before the Court for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the Appellant’s action against Respondent was barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel on the grounds that Appellant’s action was adjudicated in Respondent’s favor in the case of *Vidhyaben Patel, Individually and as PR, et. al. v. Hardik Patel, et. al.*, Case No. 2019-CP-30-0140. (R. pp. 97-100). Judge Hall took judicial notice of the proceedings in the prior action. (R. pp. 1-4). Judge Hall’s Order incorrectly holds that Appellant did not respond to the Motion. (R. pp. 1-4; 95-96).

On or about December 29, 2020, the Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Presiding Judge of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit, issued his Order granting Respondent’s Motion. (R. pp. 1-4). Appellant timely filed and served her Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 179).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). Summary judgment is appropriate when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to

a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. “When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Fleming*, 350 S.C. at 493–94, 567 S.E.2d at 860; *Harris v. Tietex International, Ltd.*, 417 S.C. 533, 790 S.E.2d. 411 (Ct. App. 2016).

FACTS

Appellant Vidhyaben R. Patel is Respondent’s mother. (R. p. 46). Respondent Hardik R. Patel is her son. (R. p. 46). Appellant and her late husband, owned several properties in Laurens County, South Carolina. Following his father’s death, Respondent claimed ownership of two of these properties, a family residence and a convenience store. (R. pp. 46-47).

In February of 2019, Appellant filed a lawsuit against Respondent and others, seeking to declare an interest in these properties. (R. p. 46). Approximately three months later, after the lawsuit was filed, Respondent reported to law enforcement that Appellant, his mother, had stolen lottery tickets from the convenience store and fraudulently benefitted from the winnings of these allegedly stolen lottery tickets. (R. p. 46). This resulted in the Appellant being arrested for alleged Lottery Fraud in Laurens County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 46-47). There has been no final resolution/adjudication of the criminal proceedings brought against Appellant.

Subsequent to the Appellant’s arrest, the Laurens County case was tried before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Presiding Judge of the Eighth Judicial Circuit. (R. pp. 8-41). On or about August 28, 2020, Judge Griffith issued his Order holding in part that Appellant was not entitled to either a Resulting or Constructive Trust as to either property. (R. pp. 8-41). Respondent immediately moved for Summary Judgment as to the present action, alleging that the Appellant’s claims in this case were barred by the doctrine of Collateral Estoppel. (R. pp. 97-100). Respondent’s Motion rested solely on Judge Griffith’s August 28, 2020, Order. (R. pp. 97-100;

8-41). Contrary to Judge Hall's Order, Appellant responded to Respondent's Motion arguing that Judge Griffith's Order, which was under appeal to this Court, was not a final judgement. On December 29, 2020, Judge Hall, without an oral argument, granted Respondent's Motion on the grounds that Appellant's action was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*. Appellant's appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY GRANTED RESPONDENT SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE GROUNDS THAT APPELLANT'S ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA*

Respondent moved for Summary Judgment on the grounds that issue preclusion prevents Appellant from relitigating issues that were litigated and finally decided in the prior Laurens County Action. *Sims v. Amisub of South Carolina, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 202, 758 S.E. 2d. 187 (Ct. App. 2014). Respondent specifically relied upon Judge Griffith's findings that neither Respondent (nor his wife, Anna who is not a party to this action), "...neither...requested, arranged or facilitated the arrest; in fact they knew nothing about it until after it occurred." (R. pp. 97-100). Judge Hall held that Appellant's claims in this case were barred by issue preclusion. The Court concluded in its December 29, 2020, Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondent that, "As a result of the prior litigation, **which is final**, Respondent is entitled to Summary Judgment in his favor as a matter of law...." (R. pp. 1-4) (Emphasis added). The Court's Order granting Summary Judgment to the Respondent is fatally flawed and clearly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

In support of its conclusion that Judge Griffith's October 30, 2020, Order constituted a final judgement entitling Respondent to Summary Judgment, the Lower Court relied upon Rule 205 South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Rules 241 (b)(2) and Rule 241(b)(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure. Neither of these rules are applicable to this case.

Neither of these rules make Judge Griffith's Order (now on appeal before this Court) a final judgement for purposes of issue preclusion.

Rule 205 of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure addresses the division of jurisdiction between the appellate court and the lower court on matters on appeal. Nothing in this rule addresses whether or not Judge Griffith's Order is final or has preclusive effect to any other pending actions. Rule 241 of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure sets forth the rule in South Carolina that a notice of appeal in a civil matter acts to automatically stay matters decided in the order, judgement decree or decision while on appeal and to automatically stay the relief ordered in the appealed order, judgement, decree or decision. This principle has several exceptions. Rule 241(b) provides that these exceptions must be strictly complied with to be applicable.

Two of these exceptions were cited by Judge Hall in his Order granting Respondent Summary Judgment. Rule 241(b)(2) and Rule 241(b)(3). Neither exception is applicable to this action. Rule 241(b)(2) provides an exception for, "judgements directing the execution of documents or personal property as provided for in S.C. Code Ann. Section 18-9-130. South Carolina Code Section 18-9-130 addresses the effect of the automatic stay on execution of judgements in South Carolina. Again, this exception has no application to the case before the Court. Likewise, Rule 241(b)(3) provides an exception for judgements directing the execution of conveyances or other instruments as provided for in S.C. Code Section 18-9-160. South Carolina Code Section 18-9-160 provides that "if the judgement appealed from directs the execution of a conveyance or other instrument, the execution of judgement shall not be stayed on appeal until the instrument shall have been executed and deposited with the clerk with whom the judgement is entered...." This exception has no application to the facts before this Court. None of the authority relied upon by Judge Hall overcomes the South Carolina rule that orders under appeal in South

Carolina are final or have any preclusive effect. Judge Hall's Order to the contrary is clearly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

The Order which forms the basis of Respondent's Motion and Judge Hall's Order Granting Summary Judgment are on appeal before this Court. A vacated or reversed judgement has no preclusive effect under the doctrine of Collateral Estoppel or Res Judicata. *Shaw Components, Inc. v. Nat. Bank of S.C.*, 304 S.C.114, 403 S.E.2d. 153 (Ct. App. 1991); *Builders Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bob Wire Electric, Inc.*, 424 S.C.161, 817 S.E.2d. 807 (S.C. App. 2018). Appellant has filed an appeal (which is presently pending) seeking to overturn the Order upon which the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment is based. If it is reversed, then it will have no preclusive effect and cannot serve as the basis for a judgement in this case. In the interests of judicial economy, the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment should not be decided upon until after both parties have had an opportunity to present and argue the issues involved before the Court. Summary Judgment should not be based on an Order which is under appeal and would have no preclusive effect if reversed or altered by the Appellate Court.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court erred in ruling that Appellant's claims in the present action were barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* and in granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on grounds of issue preclusion. The Court's Order is clearly erroneous and based on a misinterpretation/misapplication of South Carolina Law and should be reversed by this Court.