RECEIVED

Jul 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
DANIEL D. HALL, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2021-000084

Vidhyaben R. Patel,Appellant,

v.

Hardik R. Patel,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Desa Ballard
Harvey M. Watson III
BALLARD & WATSON
226 State Street
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Appellant Vidhya Patel (hereafter “Vidhya”) asserts the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to her son, Hardik Patel (hereafter “Hardik”) on her complaint seeking damages for abuse of process against Hardik. The trial court’s ruling was correct and the decision should be affirmed. Additionally, the issue raised on appeal was not preserved for appellate review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit was filed by Vidhya (in Laurens County) against Hardik during the pendency of an earlier action (also pending in Laurens County) filed by Vidhya and her younger son Darshak (hereafter “Darshak”) against Hardik, his wife Anal Patel (hereafter “Anna”) and a corporation owned by Anna called AAHARVID LLC. (hereafter “the convenience store”).¹

The first action was filed February 20, 2019 by Vidhya and Darshak, both individually and as co-personal representatives of the Estate of Ramesh Patel, Vidhya’s late husband and the father of Hardik (older son) and Darshak (young son). That action sought to impose equitable trusts over property owned by Hardik, Anna and the convenience store under a theory that Vidhya and Ramesh’s funds had actually been used to purchase the assets, so a trust should be imposed over the assets owned by Hardik, Anna and the convenience store. (R. pp. 81-94).

Hardik, Anna and the convenience store filed an answer and counterclaim, then an amended answer and counterclaim. (R. pp. 48-80). The parties agreed to try the first action non-jury and Circuit Court Judge Eugene Griffith denied all relief sought following four days of trial. (R. pp. 8-41). Judge Griffith’s order provides a detailed background of the dispute and it is incorporated herein by reference (as well as included in designations) for a full recitation of the relevant facts.

During the pendency of the first action, Vidhya was arrested by law enforcement in Laurens County for lottery fraud, arising from her former employment at the convenience store. (R. p. 184).

¹ The second action was also filed in Laurens County. However, Hardik was and is a resident of York County, so Hardik moved to change venue to York County. His motion was granted without opposition. The original Laurens County case number, 2019-CP-30-0598, was changed to a York County number, 2019-CP-46-03009, after transfer to York County. All proceedings other than the filing of the original complaint in this action occurred in York County.

While the pleadings in the first action did not reference the arrest or the circumstances surrounding it, both Vidhya and Darshak testified, without objection, in detail about Vidhya's arrest for lottery fraud, and offered their views on why the arrest was probably instigated by Hardik in retaliation for them having filed the first action. (R. p. 160, lines 10-17; R. p. 161, line 1 – p. 163, line 14; R. p. 164, line 16 – p. 165, line 22; R. p. 166, lines 1-6).

Anna testified she notified the lottery commission and law enforcement of the theft of lottery tickets after seeking legal advice and learning she was required to do so under the terms of her lottery contract with the lottery commission. (R. p. 175, line 14 – p. 176, line 2; R. p. 177, line 17 – p. 178, line 10). The attorney with whom Anna consulted confirmed he reviewed the contract the convenience store had with the lottery commission in December 2018, and confirmed he told Anna she had to report Vidhya's theft of lottery tickets to the lottery commission. (R. p. 168, line 19 – p. 170, line 5; R. p. 171, line 1 – p. 174, line 15)

In his final order in the first matter, Judge Griffith made specific findings about how Vidhya's theft of lottery tickets had been discovered and concluded that neither Hardik nor Anna was responsible for Vidhya's arrest. (R. p. 29, ¶ 90 – p. 30, ¶ 94).

Neither Hardik nor Anna requested, arranged or facilitated the arrest; in fact they knew nothing about it until after it had occurred . . . Someone called Anna after hearing a news report about [Vidhya's] arrest.

Id. p. 30, line 94.

The single issue raised by Vidhya in this litigation was a claim by Vidhya against Hardik for abuse of process, alleging that Hardik had sought Vidhya's arrest for lottery fraud in April 2020 in retaliation for Vidhya and Darshak having filed this lawsuit. (R.pp.46-47, ¶¶ 8-15).

Following the final order in the first action, Hardik moved for summary judgment in this action, asserting issue preclusion prevented a second action to litigate issues that were, or could have been, litigated in the first action. (R. pp. 97-135). Vidya opposed the motion, asserting she had appealed Judge Griffith's order so there was no preclusive effect from Judge Griffith's order that barred her from proceeding with this action. Hardik replied, pointing out that the order from the final case was final despite the appeal, and preclusive insofar as Vidhya was attempting to litigate the issue for a second time in this action. The trial judge granted summary judgment in favor of Hardik, finding "issue preclusion prevents Vidhya from attempting to relitigation. . . issues that were litigated and finally decided in the prior action." (R. pp. 1-4).

Vidhya did not file a motion for reconsideration or ask the trial judge to amend his decision. Instead, she filed this appeal.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of Hardik.

By way of preliminary procedural consideration, there are no issues preserved for appeal. As noted, after the trial judge issued his order granting summary judgment in favor of Hardik, there was no motion for reconsideration or amendment; instead this appeal was filed without further inquiry to the circuit court. The issue argued on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998); *Brown v. Singleton*, 337 S.C. 74, 522 S.E.2d 816 (Ct. App. 1999).

Additionally, the issue lacks merit. Vidhya does not dispute that the issue presented in this case was presented in the prior action, or could have been presented in the prior action. Instead, she argues that summary judgment should not have been granted because she has appealed Judge

Griffith's order in the first action, which appeal somehow makes the judgment in the first action not final.

As pointed out by Judge Hall in granting summary judgment in Hardik's favor, the pendency of the appeal by Vidhya of Judge Griffith's order does not prevent that order from being a final order. (R. p.3, footnote 1). Indeed, it is only because Judge Griffith's order is final that Vidhya is able to take the appeal from his order. S.C. Code Ann. Section 14-3-330(1).

The State Constitution establishes the appellate courts and outlines certain elements of its jurisdiction, but leaves to the General Assembly the responsibility for delineating the jurisdiction of those courts for appeals in law and equity matters. South Carolina Constitution Article V, Section 5, which creates the appellate courts but establishes the areas which the appellate courts may review final order “. . . under such regulations as the General Assembly may prescribe.”). *Id.* This Article of the State Constitution predated the legislative creation of the South Carolina Court of Appeals, which was then recognized as a constitutional court in 1985. Article V, Section 7. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 also provides for appeals from certain interlocutory orders, but the appeal being pursued by Vidhya from the Laurens County order is an appeal from a final order.²

Vidhya cannot dispute that the issue she raises in this issue is not only precluded because it *might* have been litigated in the prior action. The issue Vidhya attempts to litigate here has actually been litigated and decided by Judge Griffith.

² The State Constitution establishes the appellate courts and outlines certain elements of its jurisdiction, but leaves to the General Assembly the responsibility for delineating the jurisdiction of those courts for appeals in law and equity matters. South Carolina Constitution Article V, Section 5, which creates the appellate courts but establishes the areas which the appellate courts may review final order “. . . under such regulations as the General Assembly may prescribe.”). *Id.* This Article of the State Constitution predated the legislative creation of the South Carolina Court of Appeals, which was then recognized as a constitutional court in 1985. Article V, Section 7. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 also provides for appeals from certain interlocutory orders, but the appeal being pursued by Vidhya from the Laurens County order is an appeal from a final order.

As she did before Judge Hall, Vidhya cites to cases which hold that an order that has been vacated or reversed has no preclusive effect. She is correct about that; however, that is not the case here.

The cases Vidhya relies on address situations in which the order sought to serve as issue preclusion has already been vacated. In *Builder's Mutual v. Bob Wire Elec. Inc.*, 424 S.C. 161, 817 S.E.2d 807 (Ct. App. 2018), the Court of Appeals correctly cited prior precedent for the proposition that “issue preclusion cannot be based on a reversed judgment.”³ See *Shaw Components Inc. v. National Bank of South Carolina*, 304 S.C. 114, 403 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 1991).⁴ In *Builder's Mutual*, the Court of Appeals also referred to a Sixth Circuit case for the proposition that a vacated judgment is “deprived of all conclusive effect. . .” While Vidhya may have appealed the order in the Laurens County case, that decision has not been reversed.

The rule is not unique to South Carolina. As Justice Alito recently stated in a majority opinion in the United States Supreme Court:

[s]ometimes two different tribunals are asked to decide the same issue. When that happens, the decision of the first tribunal usually must be followed by the second. . . allowing the same issue to be decided more than once wastes litigants’ resources and adjudicators’ time and it encourages parties who lose before one tribunal to shop around for another. The doctrine of collateral estoppel or issue preclusion is designed to prevent this from occurring.

³ In *Builders Mutual*, the Court of Appeals pointed out that the long-standing recognition of doctrines of *res judicata* in our jurisprudence. “Both sides would agree, as our supreme court has, with the view of the nameless but ‘distinguished English judge: “Human life is not long enough to allow matters once disposed of being brought under discussion again. . .”, *Id.*, citing *Warren v. Raymond*, 17 S.C. 163, 189 (1882).

⁴ Both *Builders Mutual* and *Shaw Components* discussed the distinction between the preclusive effect of a prior vacated order in subsequent proceedings in the same case, referencing the “law of the case” doctrine, versus the issue preclusion effect of a prior judgment in a separate matter. Here, the issues are precluded from litigation in the instant matter because they were actually litigated and decided in the prior Laurens County action. That is the definition of issue preclusion, *i.e.*, to prevent a “second bite at the apple” which the appellate court of this state universally condemn. *Therrell v. Jerry's Inc.*, 370 S.C. 22, 633 S.E.2d 893 (2006); *Myat v. Toumey Regional Medical Center*, 427 S.C. 601, 832 S.E.2d 306 (Ct. App. 2019). See also *Pittman v. Pittman*, 395 S.C. 209, 717 S.E.2d 88 (Ct. App. 2011).

B&B Hardware Inc. v. Hargis Industries Inc., 135 S. Ct. 1293, 191 L.Ed.2d 2222 (2015).

Indeed, the only reason Vidhya has been able to appeal the judgment in the Laurens County case is because that order is a final order. Appeals may be taken only as provided by law, which requires appellate proceedings be limited to review of final orders. S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1).

Vidhya is attempting, through citation to cases that address the preclusive effect of orders that have already been reversed, to suggest to this Court that it must allow her the opportunity to complete her appeal in the Laurens County before she is bound by the legal consequences of that order. Her argument really is that the effect of the final order in Laurens County is stayed by her appeal. However, she is in error.

The Appellate Court Rules specify the kinds of orders that are automatically stayed by appeal, and the Laurens County final order is not one of them. Pursuant to Rule 241, SCACR, the Supreme Court has established the type of cases that are automatically stayed by appeal. That rule expressly provides an exception for orders which direct the assignment or delivery of documents or personal property, Rule 241(b)(2), and judgments directing the sale or delivery of possession of real property, Rule 241(b)(4). The action litigated in Laurens County was an equitable action seeking to impose a trust over real property (a house) and a business (both real and personal property). The final order adjudicated the issue and directed the dissolution of the *lis pendens* that Vidhya (and her co-plaintiff in that action, Darshak Patel) had placed on the real property owned by non-party Anal Patel. There is, therefore, no automatic stay of the appeal.⁵

⁵ Rule 241, SCACR, provides a procedure for one who files an appeal to seek a stay of the order on appeal. See Rule 241(c), SCACR. However, no such order has been sought.

The appeal⁶ which Vidhya so strenuously asserts precludes the grant of summary judgment in this case is *almost* fully briefed, with Vidhya and Darshak just having obtained an extension of time for the initial brief of respondent.⁷

CONCLUSION

Vidhya did not seek reconsideration or amendment of the order on appeal, and no issue is preserved for decision by this court on appeal. Additionally, the argument she asserts in support of her position that the trial judge erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Hardik is without merit.

Hardik respectfully requests that the decision of the trial court be affirmed.